
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Thursday, 24 September 2020 
at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
Details on how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interests 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2020-21 (Pages 7 - 18)

6. Annual Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Pages 19 - 28)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
 

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None. 

Members

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee 

Wednesday, 10 June 2020  7:30pm    

Present:

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)

Cllrs: Helen Ashenden 
Harold Craske 
Dakota Dibben 
Sarah Gow 
Gary Harding 
Leslie Hills 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Gurbax Singh 

Sarah Parfitt 
Pat Knight 
Jackie Baker 

Director (Corporate Services) 
Head of Revenues & Benefits 
Assistant Revenues & Benefits Manager 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)  

70. Apologies 

Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair) gave his apology as he was unable to dial into the meeting. 

71. Minutes 

Cllr Hills asked if the promotion of surgeries from social services had been established. 

The Head of Revenue & Benefits explained that unfortunately due to the COVID-19 outbreak 
there had been no resources left to allocate to that piece of work but it was still on the 
agenda to be completed once things returned to normality. 

The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 18 February 2020 were signed by the Chair.

72. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest. 

73. Coronavirus: Cabinet Portfolio Impact 

The Committee was provided with an overview of the impact of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) 
pandemic upon the practical delivery of the respective services within the responsible 
Cabinet portfolio. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits guided Members through the report further explaining key 
points from the following sections: 

 Legislation and Government announcements in response to the COVID-19
Pandemic

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 10.06.2020

2

 Revenues and Benefits
 Corporate Performance
 Audit and Counter Fraud
 Corporate Change
 Information Governance
 Corporate Governance
 Performance

 
Following questions and comments from Members, the Director (Corporate Services) and 
the Head of Revenue and Benefits explained that: 

 The Audit & Counter Fraud process was not considered a critical service at the 
beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic so the team were redeployed to provide 
support and advice to other services such as the business grant support process. 
Additionally, they formed part of the Council’s resilience team ensuring that any 
adjustments made to the control environment were recorded and any associated 
risks were mitigated etc. As the Council has slowly transitioned to the recovery phase 
over the last month, the auditors have been focusing on concluding work that was 
outstanding at the end of 2019/20 to assist the  Head of Internal Audit, in delivering 
his Annual Assurance Statement. That Statement is intended to provide assurance 
on the operation of the Council’s control environment and support the Annual 
Governance Statement 

 The Council Tax Hardship Fund has been promoted to those struggling financially 
and the majority of has already been applied however the team recognised that there 
will be some exceptional cases who will require further assistance. The biggest issue 
was identifying those who required assistance but customers were guided to the 
scheme if they were in arrears. Stakeholders were also worked with to advertise the 
fund 

 The Discretionary Business Rate Fund for businesses was £716,000 and it was 
created due to the number of business that were not eligible under the small 
business grant or retail, hospital and leisure grant schemes. The 100% retail relief 
fund was distributed but the discretionary fund will be directed to help  cover other 
costs associated with the business such as ongoing fixed building related costs. To 
receive the grant, the business owners will need to prove that they were still trading 
on the 11 March 2020 and had a rateable value under £51,000 or were not 
ratepayers and had annual rent/mortgage below £51K. The grant is anticipated to 
assist many small businesses, market traders, B&Bs and Charities who were not in 
receipt of small business rate relief or who had been waiting to be valued by the 
valuation agency 

 The number of businesses which have received support through the original 
business support grant scheme was 1132 cases totalling payments of £13.90m, of 
these 962 of those were small businesses, totalling £9.62 million 

 The self-employed businesses will be able to apply for the second tranche of the 
discretionary fund; the application process is currently open and will close on 19 June 
2020. After which the demand for the fund and applications will be assessed 
including eligibility and account checks. 

 The number of new Housing Benefit claims received has increased although the 
performance figures for April 2020 show that that even though the claims increased 
the team performed better than the previous year. Compared to other Kent 
authorities, Gravesham has done very well; no national statistics have been 
announced yet 

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 10.06.2020

3

 Typically, PIs representing Performance Indicators would be used in the report as 
outlined in the Corporate Plan but MT agreed to create a suite of CV indicators, 
representing COVID-19, to ensure the performance of key areas of business were 
reviewed on a regular basis and the essential services were covered during the 
pandemic. The CV indicators also allowed officers to easily pick up on specific 
actions that the Council were required to undertake as part of the national COVID-19 
response 

 CV26 represents all commercial properties within the Borough  not just Council 
owned properties 

 The Corporate Change Team was established in 2016, primarily to help the Council 
drive forward the work that was required to complete the ‘Bridging the Gap’ activity 
and balancing the budget initiatives to make a balanced Medium Term Financial 
Plan. In addition, the Team have also complimented the work of the services review 
initiatives, the creation of the Local Authority Trading Company, monitoring of service 
delivery and other key projects. During COVID-19, their skills have been redeployed 
to assist in the delivery of support to the most vulnerable in Gravesham and to assist 
the work of the HR Team in supporting the workforce

 With regards to the future of home working, the IT team worked very hard to 
distribute all of the necessary laptop and home working software in a very quick 
period of time. There is recognition from senior management that the workforce will 
gradually start to return to the Civic Centre and a discussion will be had on how 
teams will operate moving forward. There has been some benefits for staff wellbeing 
from the creation of home working 

 The next steps of the recovery phase includes reviewing the actions that will be 
needed to safely re-open the Town Centre from Monday, 15 June 2020 and to make 
staff safe returning to the Civic Centre. In addition, assistance will be provided to 
those who have been having difficulty paying their bills, signposting them to the 
relevant services 

The Committee congratulated the Head of Revenues & Benefits for the achievement of 
Gravesham being in the top five authorities in the Country to distribute the business support 
grants so promptly. In addition the Committee asked that their thanks be noted and passed 
to all of the officers that had worked so hard and went above and beyond to keep the 
services running during an extremely difficult time. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:38pm. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 24 September 2020

Reporting officer: Pat Knight - Head of Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, 
for Quarter One 2020-21 (April to June 2020). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Performance & 
Administration Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance 
against the Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2020-21, covering the period April to 
June 2020. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 8



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 10



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P E R F O R M A N C E  &  A D M I N
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 11



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8 15.9

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0 3.6

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible

to all.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Despite the significant legislative changes and exceptional pressures/demands placed on the service 

as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic performance has remained strong during the quarter.

PI 23: The average number of days to assess housing benefit claims is 15.9 days and continues to 

show a downward (improving) trend with June 2020 in month average now 14.6 days. 

PI 24: The average number of days to assess change of circumstances in respect of existing benefit 

claims is now an exceptional 3.6 days and continues to show a downward (improving) trend with 

June 2020 in month average now 3.1 days.

This has been achieved despite a dramatic increase in workload for instance number of changes has 

increased from 9,017 in Q4 2019-20 to 16,189 in this quarter or 80% increase. This performance has 

been achieved due to changes to working practices implemented by the service. 

Revenues & Benefits update - Pat Knight

5

10

15

20

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

0

2

4

6

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 12



P I  26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

73 82 44 56 41

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 2. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible 

to all. 

Corporate Complaints update - Anita Tysoe

PI 26: During Q1 there were 41 Stage 1 complaints which were dealt with by the relevant service. No 

complaints were escalated to Stage 2 or Stage 3 during this quarter. The complaints covered a 

number of services but the highest number of complaints for any one department was for Waste and 

Horticultural Services.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

O U T T U R N

25

50

75

100

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 13



P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 1,519 2,757 4,484 5,429

#3 PROGRESS
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

O U T T U R N 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 14



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6.5%

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of 

‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator

A fundamental review of the council’s Planning service is underway.  The results of this review have 

been delayed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as officers have been working away 

from the office which has meant progressing change has been difficult.  However, a report is in the 

process of being finalised which will include a service improvement plan and will be shared with the 

Lead Member in due course.

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 15



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2% 62.5%

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked 

performance management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal 

controls. 

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

Audit & Counter Fraud update - James Larkin 

Corporate Performance update - Ben Turner 

O U T T U R N

Internal Audit 

Due to the cessation of business as usual in early March 2020, work did not commence on the 2020-

21 annual workplan as officers were assisting in other key areas, assisting with a number of different 

duties, including; 

• a representative from the service being part of the resilience group

• monitoring the decisions being made as part of the emergency response to be aware of potential 

changes to the councils control environment,

• assurance checks of new controls put in place as a result of decisions,

• assisting with the development of the Covid 19 performance measures,

• development of spreadsheets to monitor staff locations,

• a check of the proposed process for managing Business Support Grant applications to provide 

assurance there are adequate controls in place to reduce the risk of fraudulent applications being 

paid,

• assisting with the validation of Business Support Grant applications ,

• contacting eligible businesses yet to apply for Business Support Grants to advise them of their 

eligibility and maximize support to local businesses,

• a check of the proposed process for assessing Discretionary Business Grant applications to assess 

compliance with council policy and advise on fraud prevention measures, and

• assisting with the assessment of Discretionary Business Grant Applications.

In late April 2020, the service started to resume some normal business but in order to limit the impact 

of Covid 19 to 2020-21 assurance, officers focused on completing outstanding reviews from 2019-20 

to ensure completion ahead of the annual opinion. This left a the final plan completion figure as 92% 

as of 30 June, against a target of 95% and provided a sound basis for the Head of Service to provide 

the annual opinion of internal control.

Under the council’s newly adopted corporate performance management framework, the Internal Audit 

team has a performance indicator relating to the implementation of agreed recommendations. Follow 

up was suspended along with other services in early March, however, when business as usual 

recommenced, responsible officers were contacted.

As of 31 March 2020, 76.19% of recommendations had been implemented. 

As of 30 June 2020, 62.5% of recommendations had been implemented. 

It is worth noting that although this figure appears low, only 24 recommendations were due for 

implementation by 30 June, so individual recommendations account for a larger percentage. Only 9 

recommendations were outstanding as of 30 June 2020.

Counter Fraud

Investigation work in the 2020-21 year to date has led to the following;

• Additional council tax (historic liability) of £5,810.99.

• Additional council tax liability of £1,782.15 for future years.

• One council property recovered (notional saving of £18,000).

As a result of the onset of Covid-19, the Corporate Management Team took the decision to introduce 

a new suite of performance indicators specifically to monitor the quality and output of critical frontline 

council services during the pandemic. The suite formed a key part of the council’s resilience planning 

and, given the critical importance of maintaining high quality service levels for residents in the face of 

the significant resource and logistical challenges posed by the pandemic, it was agreed to introduce 

a weekly reporting cycle. 

The new suite not only included material from the established PMF, albeit with outturns in direct 

contrast to recent trends (e.g. homeless households, where the intake of rough sleepers into 

temporary accommodation saw a spike of 30%), but also a number of new areas of interest e.g. the 

Vulnerable Person’s Project, where the introduction of new indicators enabled the council to 

understand its reach and the impact made for vulnerable local residents. 

Q1 also saw the completion of the council’s Annual Performance Report for 2019-20. Used as part of 

the delivery of the Statement of Accounts, the outturns for the first year of the council’s new 

Corporate Plan identified a number of positive positions for the authority across the PMF and, as a 

result, the impact it is seeking to make through its services in Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of. 

The Annual Performance Report is available via the council’s website: 

www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 16



P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

86% 86% 86% 84% 83%

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T #3 PROGRESS
4. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, 

constitutional and legislative demands.
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."
No update this quarter. 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification:   Public
Key Decision:    No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee

Date: 24 September 2020

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Annual review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with a copy of the 
annual review that has been conducted in respect of the Audit & Counter Fraud shared 
service with Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since December 2015, the council has had in place a shared service with 
Medway Council for the delivery of the Audit & Counter Fraud service.  This 
involved the transfer of all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were 
employed within Internal Audit and Fraud at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 The Audit and Counter Fraud team underwent a restructure in February 2016 
(which took effect from 1 March 2016), to take account of the changes to the 
delivery of fraud service brought about from the introduction of the Single Fraud 
Investigation Service (SFIS).

1.3 As such, the current Audit & Counter Fraud team have been operational in their 
current format for just over four years (at the time of the review).

2. Annual Review

2.1 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), the annual review of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
arrangement was undertaken in July/August 2020 and reported to the Gravesham 
Borough Council Management Team accordingly.

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Proposed development of a fully shared Internal Audit and Fraud Service with 
Medway Council” – report to Cabinet – 07 September 2015

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 20



IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2011 require a relevant body to “undertake an 
adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of 
internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal 
control.”  Proper practice has been defined as that contained within the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note 
to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.
The Local Government Act 1972 provides the Council with the ability to investigate 
and prosecute offences committed against them.
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the council to “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”.
Finally, the shared service arrangement has been established with due regard to 
Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 
place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of another 
local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2020-21 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Audit and Counter Fraud services is budgeted as £214,058 which is an 
increase in the sum paid in the previous financial year (£209,667 in 2019-20).

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance reports has shown that the service 
is meeting and in some cases, exceeding its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 21

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team contributes to the overall internal 
control and governance arrangements of the council, therefore supporting all of the 
objectives set out within the Corporate Plan.
Specifically, the delivery of a shared service contributes to objective #3 – Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change issues arising from this report.

Crime and Disorder Internal Audit provides an independent and objective opinion to the organisation on 
the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving the 
organisations’ objectives.  The work of Internal Audit combined with a sound 
internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.
The counter fraud arrangements of the council acknowledge that the council can be 
exposed to fraud and are intended to, as far as possible, prevent fraud occurring 
and pursue criminal action if needed when fraud is detected.  Working with partners 
to combat crime and disorder has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 22



                    

Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud
Shared Service

(Shared service Commenced: December 2015)

Author(s): Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services) at Gravesham Borough Council 
and Phil Watts, Chief Financial Officer at Medway Council

Date: 02 September 2020

Page 23



Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

July 2020

Page 2

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement.

The objectives identified for the Audit & Counter Fraud shared service are as follows:

 Deliver the statutory internal audit function.

 Deliver an effective counter fraud and investigation service.

 Provide a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) for the Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) for 
their investigation of Housing Benefit Fraud.

 Deliver a reduction in the cost of service delivery to mitigate the reduction in funding from the 
DWP as a result of the introduction of the Single Fraud Investigation service (SFIS).

 Provide increased resilience and flexibility to meet the needs of both councils.

Key areas of focus for the 2019-20 financial year were identified as follows:

 Investigate potential apprenticeship opportunities for staff development

Page 24



Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

July 2020

Page 3

Review Findings

How is the shared service operating?
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document?

Yes No In part √

Please provide details of how the objectives have been met.  If they haven’t been met or 
have been met in part, please provide the reasons for this and any action identified to rectify 
this.

 Deliver the statutory internal audit function – Statutory internal audit functions have 
been maintained throughout the year but the Covid 19 pandemic did have an impact on 
service that meant not all targets were met in year. The service was identified as non-
critical in the early stages of the emergency response for both councils and business as 
usual ceased, meaning that planned assurance reviews were not completed. This 
resulted in plan completion of 72% for Gravesham and 81% for Medway as at 31 March 
2020. 

Work continued during Q1 of 2020-21 to try and address this issue and plan completion 
as of 30 June 2020 was 92% for Gravesham and 89% for Medway, although this was still 
below the target of 95%.

 Deliver an effective counter fraud and investigation service – The counter fraud 
function has seen improvement during 2019-20 with the following results across the 
two councils; 
o additional council tax and business rates of £584,599 identified,
o notional savings of £108,750 associated with the recovery of six council properties 

and one blue badge, and
o a prevented loss of £82,800 associated with a blocked fraudulent right to buy 

application.  

 Provide a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) for the Department for Works and Pensions 
(DWP) for their investigation of Housing Benefit Fraud – excellent service maintained

 Deliver a reduction in the cost of service delivery to mitigate the reduction in funding 
from the DWP as a result of the introduction of the Single Fraud Investigation service 
(SFIS) - cost of service has increased in line with salary increases but still delivers a 
saving against the previous service if same increases were applied to the 2015-16 
baseline budgets as a comparison.

 Provide increased resilience and flexibility to meet the needs of both councils – While 
there has been no significant sickness within the service during 2019-20, there were 
periods of vacancy that have impacted on the level of resource available but the service 
was adapted to cope with these issues. The failure to meet targets is linked purely to 
the closure of the service during the emergency response.

 Investigate potential apprenticeship opportunities for staff development – An audit 
apprenticeship was identified in year and plans made for two officers to commence a 
two year apprenticeship in the early part of 2020-21, however, this has been delayed by 
the Covid 19 Pandemic as courses ceased in response to the lockdown. We have 

Page 25



Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

July 2020

Page 4

continued to monitor the situation and plans are now in place for two officers to 
commence the apprenticeship around October 2020.

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service? 

Yes √ No

Please provide details of any other benefits, which were not anticipated at the start, which 
have come about as a result of the shared service.

The setup of the service and its flexible working capabilities, originally intended to working 
across two council sites, meant that the impact of the Covid 19 lockdown was minimal in 
the sense that all officers were immediately able to switch to remote working from home 
with minimal issues. Had it not been an emergency response situation that resulted in the 
decision to shut down the service as non-critical, all functions could have continued with 
minimal interruption to the service.  

Officers from the service were involved in the emergency response/resilience teams for 
both Medway and Gravesham during the peak of the Covid 19 pandemic. This meant 
knowledge of best practice and what was working well could be shared quickly, which was 
of great benefit to both councils.

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service?

Yes No √

Please provide details of any other issues of problems that have arisen which were not 
previously identified and how these have been managed/rectified.

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities? 

Please provide details of the financial impact of the shared service i.e. confirmation of any 
savings achieved, if these are above/below anticipated levels, any costs that were not 
previously considered or have arisen etc.

Both authorities have seen budget savings from the introduction of the shared service, with 
baseline budgets being significantly reduced in comparison to before the service was 
launched. While the cost of service has increased due to salary increases in line with 
national changes, it still delivers a saving against the previous services, which would be 
demonstrated if the same increases were applied to the 2015-16 baseline budgets as a 
comparison.

In addition, the savings generated by the work of the counter fraud function clearly 
demonstrate the financial benefits of investigation and redress. The overall cost of the A&CF 
Service for 2019-20 was £570,652 and approx. 35% of resource is directed towards counter 
fraud activity, meaning the counter fraud function costs approx. £199,728. As mentioned in 

Page 26



Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

July 2020

Page 5

section 1, the service has identified savings totalling £776,549. While such significant results 
cannot be guaranteed each year, it is entirely possible that the counter fraud function could 
be self-financing.

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service:

Please provide details of feedback that you have received from officers involved in the 
shared service.  This section could be completed via a short team meeting for example, 
whereby officers views are sought.

In general the feedback from officers within the service is positive with the majority citing 
the flexibility of the working arrangements and the ability to work at varying sites as key 
benefits. The only real negatives related to training and concerns around multi-disciplinary 
working. 

The service was set up with the ambition for all staff to become multi-disciplinary, handling 
both audit and fraud work to create resilience for the two authorities. Unfortunately, in 
2017-18 and 2018-19, there was significant long terms sickness amongst the officers and 
our results for those years demonstrate that while resilience was achieved for audit but at 
the expense of fraud activity; which is demonstrated by the lower savings achieved in those 
two years. 

Officers have commented that the two roles, while on paper having similarities around 
analysis of evidence, are actually quite different and difficult to manage at the same time, as 
priorities are often very conflicting and this was evident in the quality of some work. It was 
also pointed out that were officers to achieve professional qualifications in both audit and 
fraud, it would be extremely difficult to demonstrate sufficient ‘continuous professional 
development’ (CPD) on an annual basis to maintain their accreditations in both disciplines.

In 2019-20, we trialled the approach of returning to dedicated auditors and investigators 
and officers have commented that this has provided some much needed stability with very 
little sickness and allowed them to focus on their roles. As a service, we have also recorded 
some of our highest fraud savings to date, suggesting that the approach of designated roles 
is more effective.

Moving forward with the shared service
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate?

Yes √ No

If ‘No’ please provide details of why it is felt that the shared service should not continue and 
any exit plans that have been discussed/agreed.

If the answer is ‘Yes’ but there are changes that need to be made to ensure  the shared 
service is effective, please provide details of the changes that are required and how they will 
be addressed.

Page 27



Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

July 2020

Page 6

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities?

If answered ‘Yes’ to question 5, please provide details of the key aspects of work that 
are going to be undertaken in the year in order to ensure the shared service continues 
and is further strengthened.

The main priority for 2020-21 has to be ensuring delivery of all necessary assurance 
related activity. A revised work plan for 2020-21 has been created to take into account 
the loss resource created by the shutdown of the service, although much of the 
redeployment activity has been in areas where assurance and fraud prevention advice 
has been required.

It is anticipated that there will be an increase in the level of counter fraud work due to 
new areas of fraud being identified around business support grants. The Cabinet Office 
will be undertaking additional data matching as part of the National Fraud Initiative 
Exercise, so it is likely there will be a significant increase in the volume of data matches 
received. Options for how this increase will be resourced will be considered and 
submitted for approval during 2020-21. 

Summary of recommendations
Please list any recommendations that you feel need to be reviewed by the relevant Directors at both 
authorities.  This may include changes to processes or potential supplement increases (if applicable) 
if it is felt that partnership is working well.

1. Officers to return to designated roles as part of a multi-disciplinary service 
rather than multi-disciplinary officers

2. Invest in additional resource in the form of a second intelligence Analyst (fixed 
term contract) to deal with the increased data matching.

3.

Page 28


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2020-21
	2. Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q1 2020-21 - Appendix 2

	6 Annual Review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
	Audit  Counter Review Shared Service Annual Review 2020




